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DECISION 


Brian Nowakowski is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offenses of driving while intoxicated and disturbing the peace; and because when he disturbed the peace his conduct was committed under color of law and involved moral turpitude.  
Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint on June 26, 2009, seeking this Commission’s determination that Nowakowski’s peace officer license is subject to discipline.  Nowakowski received a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by personal service on September 24, 2010.  He did not file an answer to the complaint.  

We held a hearing on March 8, 2011.  Shannon T. Kempf represented the Director.  Neither Nowakowski nor anyone representing him appeared.  At the hearing, we agreed to leave 
the record open for two weeks in order for the Director to submit business records from the Vinita Park Police Department.  The Director filed those records on March 18, 2011, with an affidavit from the chief of police of the Vinita Park Police Department, along with a motion to incorporate the business records into the record of this case.  We grant the motion and admit the records as Petitioner’s Exhibit C.


We make our findings of fact from Exhibit C and certified copies of records from the Circuit Court of St. Louis County, the municipal court of the City of Lake St. Louis, and the Missouri Department of Revenue.  The following facts, based on that evidence, are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Nowakowski is licensed as a peace officer, and he was in 2007 when the events at issue in this case occurred.  He was employed as a police officer with the Vinita Park Police Department.
2. On or about October 3, 2007, Nowakowski went to the Vinita Park Police Station at around 2:30 a.m. in an intoxicated state.  He was not on duty.  He intended to sleep at the station until his shift began the next morning.

3. Another officer was booking a prisoner.  Nowakowski went to the booking room and told the prisoner, “I want twenty dollars and I’ll let you out of here.  Your bond is a thousand f***ing dollars, I want twenty dollars, I’m the m***ing Chief and I want some money if you want out of here.”   Nowakowski threatened to “kick his ass,” threw the room key at the prisoner and hit him in the face with a key. 
4. On or about March 3, 2009, Nowakowski pled guilty to disturbing the peace in connection with the above incident, a Class B misdemeanor, in the St. Louis County Associate Circuit Court.  He received a suspended imposition of sentence.

5. On or about October 10, 2007, Nowakowski operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

6. On or about January 27, 2009, Nowakowski pled guilty in the Lake St. Louis Municipal Court to driving while intoxicated, and received a suspended imposition of sentence.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Nowakowski has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:
*   *   *
(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

Criminal Offenses
A.  Disturbing the Peace

Nowakowski pled guilty to disturbing the peace, in violation of § 574.010. 
  Disturbing the peace is a Class B misdemeanor.  A misdemeanor is a criminal offense. 
  Therefore, Nowakowski committed a criminal offense, and there is cause to discipline his license under 
§ 590.080.1(2).  
B.  Driving While Intoxicated


The Director contends that Nowakowski violated § 577.010, which provides:

1.  A person commits the crime of “driving while intoxicated” if he operates a motor vehicle while in an intoxicated or drugged condition.
2.  Driving while intoxicated is for the first offense, a class B misdemeanor. . . .
Section 577.001.3 provides:

As used in this chapter, a person is in an “intoxicated condition” when he is under the influence of alcohol, a controlled substance, or drug, or any combination thereof.
Nowakowski pled guilty to a Lake St. Louis municipal ordinance.  We do not consider the evidence that Nowakowski pled guilty to the municipal violation of DWI as proof that he committed a criminal offense.  Violations of municipal ordinances are civil matters.
  Further, we cannot consider Nowakowski’s guilty plea as an admission to facts that support a violation of 
§ 577.010 because we have no evidence as to the elements of the municipal ordinance violated. Section 536.070(6)
 provides that “[a]gencies shall take official notice of all matters of which the courts take judicial notice.” But we cannot take official notice of the text of municipal ordinances.
The courts of Missouri have repeatedly held that neither trial nor appellate courts will take judicial notice of municipal ordinances and that such ordinances may be recognized by the Court only if admitted into evidence or stipulated to by the parties.[
] 
Neither of those happened in this case.

However, circumstantial evidence may prove intoxication.
  The Missouri Court of Appeals has held:

Intoxication may be proven by any witness who had a reasonable opportunity to observe the defendant's physical condition, and intoxication is usually evidenced by unsteadiness on the feet, slurred speech, lack of body coordination and impaired motor reflexes.[
] 
 In this case, although Nowakowski refused to be breathalyzed or to perform any sobriety tests, the arresting officer observed a strong odor of intoxicants, uncertain balance, slurred speech, and glassy and bloodshot eyes.  These are indicators of intoxication.
  We conclude that he drove while intoxicated and violated § 577.010.
C.  Driving without a License


The Director alleges in his complaint that on or about March 15, 2008, Nowakowski drove a vehicle in Warren County while his driver’s license was revoked, in violation of 
§ 302.321.  He also alleges that Nowakowski pled guilty to the amended charge of No Operator’s License in Warren County Associate Circuit Court on or about October 7, 2008.  However, the Director presented no evidence regarding this offense.  We do not find that Nowakowski committed a criminal offense related to driving with no operator’s license.
II.  Act Involving Moral Turpitude

The Director asserts that Nowakowski may be disciplined under § 590.080.1(3) for committing an act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude.  Nowakowski was not on active duty when he abused and threatened the prisoner.  Even if he was not, however, he acted under color of law.  As defined by a court when construing the term in the context of 42 U.S.C. § 1983:
“The traditional definition of acting under color of state law requires that the defendant in a § 1983 action have exercised power ‘possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law.’” . . .  At the same time, however, the Supreme Court has made clear that even the “[m]isuse of power” possessed by virtue of state law is action taken “under color of state law.” . . .  Thus, “under ‘color’ of law” means “under ‘pretense’ of law,” and “[a]cts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties are included whether they hew to the line of their authority or overstep it.”[
]

Although he was not on duty at the time, Nowakowski misused his position as a peace officer employed by Vinita Park when he interfered with booking the prisoner and abused him.  It was his position as a peace officer that afforded him familiarity with the station, its procedures, and its personnel and allowed him access to the booking area.  He told the prisoner that he was the chief of police.  Even if he was intoxicated when this behavior occurred, he acted under color of law.


Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 

between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

We agree that Nowakowski’s conduct involved moral turpitude.  He is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3).  
Summary


Nowakowski is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  

SO ORDERED on March 31, 2011.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner
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